STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

**ORIGINAL**

\_\_\_\_\_

Certiorari to Florence County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_

ANTHONY LEMONT WILSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-000543

\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

\_\_\_\_\_

TAYLOR D GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

NOV 14 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR court erred in denying Petitioner's application, where a conflict of interest prevented Petitioner's waiver of post-conviction relief contained in his plea agreement from being either knowing or voluntary, where plea counsel neither got a conflict waiver in writing nor allowed Petitioner to confer with independent counsel to determine if he wished to waive the conflict?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted by the State Grand Jury of South Carolina on or about October 22, 2015 for two counts of distribution of heroin and one count of conspiracy to traffic heroin, twenty-eight grams or greater. App. 100 – 105. On August 2, 2016, he appeared before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson to plead guilty to a lesser-included offense of trafficking between four and fourteen grams as well as the two counts of distribution of heroin. App. 3 ll. 18 – 24; App. 11 ll. 11 – 13. David Fernandez appeared on behalf of the State, and Justin Kata represented Petitioner. Petitioner pled guilty pursuant to a plea agreement. App. 3 l. 24 – App. 4 l. 10; App. 47 – 52.

The facts presented by the prosecution at the plea hearing were as follows: On November 7, 2014 law enforcement in Florence County used an informant to purchase heroin from Petitioner. App. 14 ll. 17 – 25. On November 19, a similar exchange allegedly took place. App. 15 ll. 1 – 7.

Judge Henderson found that the facts supported the plea, ruled that Petitioner freely, voluntarily, and intelligently entered into the plea, and accepted the plea. App. 16 ll. 3 – 11. Sentencing was deferred until November 16, 2016 before Judge Henderson with the same counsel present. App. 29 ll. 22 – 24; App. 32. The State recommended a sentence of fifteen to twenty years. App. 37 ll. 18 – 19. Petitioner was sentenced to fifteen years' incarceration. App. 44 ll. 20 – 25.

On or about March 20, 2017, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. App. 53. It contained multiple allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 55 – 66. The State filed its Return and Partial Motion to Dismiss on or about October 6, 2017. App. 67 – 73.

An evidentiary hearing was held on February 2, 2018 before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. App. 75. Michael Abbott represented Petitioner, and Megan Jameson appeared on behalf of the State. Plea counsel and Petitioner testified. Judge Nettles granted the State's partial motion to dismiss and dismissed all post-conviction relief claims except for the issue regarding plea counsel's advice to enter into the plea agreement. App. 106 ll. 22 – 25. Judge Nettles also denied the application and issued an Order of Dismissal on or about March 20, 2018. App. 111 – 119.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in denying Petitioner's application, where a conflict of interest prevented Petitioner's waiver of post-conviction relief contained in his plea agreement from being either knowing or voluntary, where plea counsel neither got a conflict waiver in writing nor allowed Petitioner to confer with independent counsel to determine if he wished to waive the conflict.

At the evidentiary hearing in Petitioner's case, plea counsel claimed he explained to Petitioner the effects of a post-conviction relief waiver. App. 82 ll. 2 – 22. Although he initially answered in the affirmative when asked about the effects and if he provided examples, counsel then immediately vacillated and instead contended that he only discussed the effects. Id. Particularly, counsel testified that although he did not give examples, he advised Petitioner that “if he didn't feel that I did a good job or that if I didn't do the - - fulfill the duties that I needed to do, then he would have some challenges with challenging that.” App. 82 l. 23 – App. 83 l. 7.

According to the Plea Agreement entered into on August 2, 2016, the following restrictions were placed on Petitioner, including an outright bar, rather than a simple challenge, on averring ineffective assistance of counsel:

The Defendant, Anthony Lemont Wilson, agrees that as a part of the consideration for this plea he will not appeal his plea of guilty or any sentence he receives in General Sessions Court in South Carolina. The Defendant, Anthony Lemont Wilson, acknowledges that he understands that he has a right of direct appeal of his guilty plea or sentence and that he knowingly, voluntarily, and expressly waives this right of direct appeal. Additionally, the Defendant, Anthony Lemont Wilson, understands that he has a right to file a post-conviction relief (PCR) action in this case **but agrees to knowingly and voluntarily waive any post-conviction relief action except for claims that directly attack the effectiveness of advice to agree to this waiver.**

App 51 (emphasis added).<sup>1</sup>

The bolded section above appears to be a product of this Court’s decision in Sanders v. State, 412 S.C. 611, 773 S.E.2d 580 (2015). A similar agreement was entered into—Sanders acquiesced to a bench trial and waived any right to direct appeal, PCR, or habeas corpus proceedings—in exchange for the State not seeking the death penalty. Unlike the matter *sub judice*, the trial court in Sanders “engaged in a lengthy colloquy with Sanders” prior to approving the agreement. Id. at 612, 773 S.E.2d at 581. The plea judge in Petitioner’s case never inquired about plea counsel’s advice surrounding the waiver of post-conviction relief. App. 101 ll. 21 – 24.

“The court explained to Sanders he was giving up the right to have another court review its decision, and Sanders acknowledged he understood.” Id. “The court discussed PCR and stated Sanders would be waiving the right to challenge his attorneys’ actions afterward.” Id. Unlike Wilson, “Sanders said he had discussed the PCR statute with his lawyers and wanted to waive that right as well.” Id.

This Court “agree[d] with the wealth of federal jurisprudence which allows for ineffective assistance of counsel claims to proceed despite a previous waiver of collateral review where the challenge directly attacks the effectiveness of the advice to agree to that waiver.” Id. However, for the reasons discussed *infra*, Wilson was unable to freely and voluntarily waive any rights in the plea agreement.

The second footnote in Sanders mirrors many of the concerns expressed by PCR counsel in his discussions of these matters with the PCR judge and plea counsel. The Advisory Opinions of Ohio, Nebraska, North Carolina, and Utah all stand for similar propositions: an inherent

---

<sup>1</sup> Interestingly, although each of the six pages of the agreement contains a line for Petitioner’s initials, the last page of the agreement is not initialed by Petitioner.

conflict exists when an attorney counsels his client to waive the right to challenge his representation. Notably, this Court referred to a recent opinion from the Supreme Court of Kentucky finding the use of an ineffective assistance waiver constitutes professional misconduct. U.S., ex rel. U.S. Attorneys ex rel. E., W. Districts of Kentucky v. Kentucky Bar Ass'n, 439 S.W.3d 136, 140 (Ky. 2014).

Plea counsel conceded that if Petitioner had “proven that [he] was ineffective in representing him in his criminal case that that would have formed the basis for a professional negligence action against [him] as an attorney.” App. 83 ll. 16 – 23.

With regards to Rule 1.7 of the Rules of Professional Conduct, PCR counsel inquired of plea counsel whether he explained to Petitioner that he “had a potential conflict of interest in advising him to waive his PCR rights.” App. 86 ll. 7 – 23. Plea counsel admitted that he did not discuss with Petitioner this conflict or have Petitioner sign a conflict waiver. Id.; App. 87 ll. 9 – 11. As articulated by PCR counsel: ~

Rule 1.7 relates to conflicts of interest in that said rule states that there ... will be a conflict of interest if there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by ... a personal interest of the lawyer, and in this case the personal interest would be whether he could bring a malpractice claim.

App. 84 ll. 2 – 9. Following an objection to a question phrased using the above recitation, PCR counsel discussed with the PCR court that plea counsel had “an inherent conflict of interest in advising Mr. Wilson to waive his right to PCR counsel for ineffective assistance because it’s [in his] personal interest.” App. 84 l. 23 – App. 85 l. 6. If Petitioner could have proven ineffective assistance, according to PCR counsel, “then there’s a malpractice claim against counsel. So he has a conflict in advising him to waive that right to prove ineffective assistance so [he does not] get sued.” Id.

Plea counsel contended, without apparent reference to his notes or file, that he met with Petitioner for five-and-a-half hours. App. 90 l. 25 – App. 91 l. 1. Petitioner recalled it differently: he maintained that the single meeting lasted only fifteen minutes. App. 95 ll. 13 – 20. The remainder of Petitioner’s testimony is illustrative of the dangers surrounding a plea agreement which contains a post-conviction relief waiver. App. 96 l. 2 – App. 97 l. 16. Counsel did not explain many of the legal concepts to Petitioner and did not discuss the rights Petitioner was relinquishing. Had Petitioner known more about his right to post-conviction relief or plea counsel’s potential conflict, he would not have entered into this plea agreement. App. 97 ll. 17 – 22.

As evidenced by his testimony at the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner desires the ability to bring a complete action for post-conviction relief with all of his issues beyond whether counsel properly advised him to waive his right to post-conviction relief. App. 97 l. 23 – App. 98 l. 2.

### **Discussion**

A criminal defendant, who has been convicted of, or sentenced for a crime, has a statutory right to seek post-conviction relief of his conviction and sentences. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(a). “A defendant’s knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and may be accomplished by a colloquy between the court and defendant, between the court and defendant’s counsel, or both.” Moore v. State, 399 S.C. 641, 732 S.E.2d 871 (2012)(citing Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 34, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000)); see also, Brannon v. State, 345 S.C. 437, 548 S.E.2d 866 (2001).

In Spoone v. State, 379 S.C. 138, 665 S.E.2d 605 (2008), this Court held a criminal defendant may waive his right to appellate and post-conviction review as long as the waiver is knowing and voluntary. However, because plea counsel was unaware of the conflict by virtue of

his failure to obtain a signed and written waiver from Petitioner, it naturally follows that Petitioner could have been unaware of the conflict. Therefore, Petitioner's waiver could not have been either knowing or voluntarily, as he was unaware of the conflict.

Despite a knowing and voluntary waiver, a plea agreement that waives the right to collaterally attack a conviction and sentence is unenforceable with respect to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim that challenges the voluntariness of the plea. United States v. Johnson, 410 F.3d 137, 151 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005) (“[E]ven if the court engages in a complete plea colloquy, a waiver ... may not be knowing and voluntary if tainted by the advice of constitutionally ineffective trial counsel.”); see also, United States v. Attar, 38 F.3d 727, 732 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994) (holding “a defendant’s agreement to waive appellate review of his sentences is implicitly conditioned on the assumption that the proceedings following entry of the plea will be conducted in accordance with constitutional limitations”).

In Johnson, the Fourth Circuit explained that an appeal waiver pursuant to a plea agreement “cannot be knowing and voluntary when the plea agreement itself is the result of advice outside the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Johnson, 422 F.3d at 151 (internal quotations omitted); see also Washington v. Lampert, 422 F.3d 864, 871 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005) (holding that a plea agreement that waives the right to file a federal habeas petition pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254 is unenforceable with respect to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim that challenges the voluntariness of the waiver); United States v. White, 307 F.3d 336, 339 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002) (holding that a waiver of a right to file a petition for federal habeas corpus does not apply to a claim that the waiver was tainted by ineffective assistance of counsel); United States v. Cockerham, 237 F.3d 1179, 1183-1184 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) (holding although a waiver of collateral review rights is generally enforceable, such a waiver is unenforceable against a claim

of ineffective assistance in connection with the negotiation of the waiver itself because it would deprive the defendant the opportunity to assert his Sixth Amendment right to counsel where he had accepted the waiver in reliance on delinquent representation); DeRoo v. United States, 223 F.3d 919 (8th Cir. 2000)(“A defendant’s plea agreement waiver of the right to seek section 2255 post-conviction relief does not waive defendants’ right to argue, pursuant to that section, that the decision to enter into the plea was not knowing and voluntary because it was the result of ineffective assistance of counsel.”); Jones v. United States, 167 F.3d 1142, 1145 (7th Cir. 1999)(“Justice dictates that a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in connection with the negotiation of a cooperation agreement cannot be barred by the agreement itself – the very product of the alleged ineffectiveness.”); United States v. Henderson, 72 F.3d 463, 465 (5th Cir. 1995)(holding that a dismissal of an appeal based on a waiver in the plea agreement was improper where the motion to withdraw the plea incorporated a claim that the defendant’s waiver of appeal was tainted by ineffective assistance of counsel).

Furthermore, in recent years, several state ethics boards and at least one state supreme court have held that waivers of claims of ineffective assistance present a defense attorney with an impermissible conflict of interest. Several ethics boards have applied the equivalent of Model Rule 1.7 of the Rules of Professional Conduct<sup>2</sup> to find that waivers of ineffective assistance of counsel claims present impermissible conflicts of interest that may compromise the quality of representation. See, e.g., Ala. State Bar Office of Gen. Counsel, Formal Op. 2011-02 (2011) (finding advising a criminal defendant to enter into an agreement prospectively waiving the client’s right to assert an ineffective assistance of counsel claim against that lawyer would violate

---

<sup>2</sup> South Carolina prohibits a lawyer from representing a client if the representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest. Rule 1.7(a), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR. The Rule further defines a conflict of interest as one where there is a significant risk that the representation will be materially limited by a person interest of the lawyer. Rule 1.7(a)(2), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR.

Alabama's professional conduct rule concerning conflicts of interest); Ky. Bar Ass'n, Advisory Op. KBA E-435 (2012)(stating that a criminal defense lawyer may not advise defendants to accept plea agreements waiving claims of ineffective assistance of counsel because such agreements create a conflict of interest); Advisory Comm. of the Supreme Court of Mo., Formal Op. 126 (2009)(finding that "[i]t is not permissible for defense counsel to advise the defendant regarding waiver of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel by defense counsel" due to the personal conflict of interest created by such waivers); Nat'l Ass'n of Criminal Def. Lawyers Ethics Advisory Comm., Formal Op. 12-02 (2012)(opining that "the rules of professional ethics prohibit a criminal defense lawyer from signing a plea agreement limiting the client's ability to claim ineffective assistance of counsel" based on the inherent conflict of interest. Thus, these ethics boards have concluded that attorneys cannot advise clients to waive future ineffective assistance claims because such would be advice to waive pending claims against them and an inherent conflict of interest.

Comment 20 to South Carolina's Rule 1.7 of the Rules of Professional Conduct provides the following:

The effectiveness of such waivers is generally determined by the extent to which the client reasonably understands the material risks that the waiver entails. The more comprehensive the explanation of the types of future representations that might arise and the actual and reasonably foreseeable adverse consequences of those representations, the greater the likelihood that the client will have the requisite understanding. Thus, if the client agrees to consent to a particular type of conflict with which the client is already familiar, then the consent ordinarily will be effective with regard to that type of conflict. If the consent is general and open-ended, then the consent ordinarily will be ineffective, because it is not reasonably likely that the client will have understood the material risks involved.

Rules of Professional Conduct: Rule 1.7, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR.

Other state ethics boards have concluded that such agreements violate the rules that prevent an attorney from prospectively limiting the attorney's liability for malpractice as found in Model Rule 1.8(h) of the Rules of Professional Responsibility.<sup>3</sup> See Ohio Supreme Court Bd. of Comm'rs on Grievances & Discipline, Informal Op. 2001-06 (2001) (stating "[i]t is unethical ... for a ... criminal defense attorney to advise a defendant to enter a plea agreement that waives the defendant's appellate or postconviction claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel" as a violation of the rule prohibiting a lawyer from attempting to exonerate himself from liability for personal malpractice); Vt. Bar Ass'n, Advisory Op. 95-04 (1995)(stating that "[a]n attorney may not recommend that a client enter into a plea agreement in a criminal case that contains provisions waiving post-conviction rights or remedies that would be based on allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel" due to the ethical rules barring a lawyer from limiting his liability to a client for personal malpractice). These boards have recognized that although malpractice and collateral review are not the same, they have found significant connections between the two to apply the rule to the waiver of collateral review setting.

Recently, the Supreme Court of Kentucky held that advising a defendant regarding a waiver of ineffective assistance claims in a proffered plea agreement constitutes professional misconduct by defense counsel as it presents an unwaivable conflict of interest:

[T]he use of IAC waivers in plea bargain agreements (1) creates a nonwaivable conflict of interest between the defendant and his attorney, (2) operates effectively to limit the attorney's liability for malpractice, and (3) induces, by the prosecutor's insertion of the waiver into plea agreements, an ethical breach by defense counsel.

---

<sup>3</sup> South Carolina prohibits a lawyer from making an agreement "prospectively limiting the lawyer's liability to a client for malpractice unless the client is independently represented in making the agreement." Rule 1.8(h)(1), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR.

U.S., ex rel. U.S. Attorneys ex rel. E., W. Districts of Kentucky v. Kentucky Bar Ass'n, 439 S.W.3d 136, 140 (Ky. 2014). The court explained that “[w]hen defense counsel is forced, through the introduction of an IAC waiver in a plea agreement, to advise a client on the attorney’s own conduct, a personal interest certainly exists.” Id. Specifically, the court pointed to the time an IAC claim may consume for the attorney, the tarnish the attorney’s reputation may suffer, the possibility of attorney discipline, and even serious financial consequences as examples of the personal interests a lawyer may have in such an agreement. Id. The court pointed to psychological studies that have “uncovered biases that make it extremely difficult for professionals, even those who are acting in good faith and whose only limitation is unconscious, to appreciate the deleterious consequences of conflicts of interest.” Id. (quoting Tigran W. Eldred, The Psychology of Conflicts of Interest in Criminal Cases, 58 U. Kan. L. Rev. 43, 48 (2009)). Due to how the human brain works when considering personal conflicts, “even an attorney acting in good faith, diligently attempting to provide the best advice for a client, is at risk of unconsciously painting an ethical gloss over his or her decision.” Id.