STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

APR 01 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO FLORENCE COUNTY  
Roger E. Henderson, Plea Judge  
Michael G. Nettles, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000543

---

ANTHONY LAMONT WILSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish plea counsel was constitutionally ineffective in advising Petitioner to enter into a written plea agreement waiving his right to challenge his pleas through post-conviction relief where counsel explained to the terms of the plea agreement to Petitioner, including what post-conviction relief was and what the waiver entailed, and Petitioner made a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent decision to waive post-conviction relief in exchange for a favorable negotiated sentence disposing of all pending State Grand Jury charges.**

On appeal, Petitioner argues the post-conviction relief court erred in finding Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to pursue post-conviction relief against plea counsel on all claims other than whether counsel was ineffective in advising him to enter into the plea agreement based on an inherent conflict of interest that was neither waiver in writing nor subject to advise of independent counsel. In support of this argument, Petitioner cites a number of authority from other jurisdictions, including a number of Advisory Opinions from other states, and appears to be urging this Court to adopt a standard that before a criminal defendant can enter into a plea agreement with the State limiting (but critically—not entirely precluding) his ability to seek collateral review, a criminal defense attorney must obtain a waiver in writing from the defendant as to any conflict of interest after the defendant has conferred with independent counsel. However, such a standard has not been adopted in South Carolina and was not the standard upon which counsel's performance or Petitioner's waiver was reviewed by the post-conviction relief court or this Court. Instead, the post-conviction relief court properly found plea counsel correctly advised Petitioner as to what post-conviction relief was, what the waiver entailed, and that Petitioner knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to pursue most post-conviction relief claims in exchange for a favorable negotiated sentence from the State. The post-conviction relief court's findings are supported by probative evidence and the record and do not constitute an error of law. This Court should deny certiorari.

Petitioner, like all other defendants, has a right to the assistance of effective counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his post-conviction relief action, and when alleging that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. First, Petitioner must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea counsel, the applicant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s

alleged errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).

“A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate’s right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed.” Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 74 (1977)). “Indeed, where a thorough colloquy is conducted, courts must exercise caution in setting aside the guilty plea.” Garren v. State, 423 S.C. 1, 12, 813 S.E.2d 704, 712 (2018); see Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 469-71, 765 S.E.2d 123, 129-30 (2014) (observing that “guilty plea[s] must be treated as final in the vast majority of cases” and instructing that caution must be exercised so as not to “undermine the solemn nature of a guilty plea and the finality that generally attaches to a guilty plea”).

Under South Carolina law, a criminal defendant can choose to waive his right to collateral review of his conviction so long as the waiver is knowingly and voluntarily made. Spoone v. State, 379 S.C. 138, 665 S.E.2d 605 (2008) (holding that a waiver of appellate rights is valid and enforceable as long as it is knowing and voluntary). Plea agreements in general operate under contractual principles, and are upheld when each party receives the benefit of the bargain. State v. Thrift, 312 S.C. 282, 292, 440 S.E.2d 341, 347 (1994).

However, while appellate and collateral waivers are enforceable, a criminal defendant who has waived his appellate and collateral review is still entitled to proceed forward with a post-conviction relief action on the very narrow issue of challenging his attorney’s conduct in advising him to enter into the waiver. Sanders v. State, 412 S.C. 611, 617, 773 S.E.2d 580, 583 (2015) (“Consequently, we hold that although a defendant may waive his right to collateral

review, he is nevertheless still entitled to challenge whether the advice he received in agreeing to that waiver was constitutionally defective.”).

In footnote in Sanders, this Court expressed concern over potential ethical implications that could arise from waivers of ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Sanders, 412 S.C. at 616 n. 2, 773 S.E.2d at 582 (2015) (“Furthermore, we express our concern with the ethical implications of a waiver of ineffective assistance of counsel claims.”). In the same footnote, this Court elaborated, “We find this practice especially troubling where, as here, the defendant enters into the agreement prior to a trial, which allows significantly more potential for error than a guilty plea.” Id. However, this Court nonetheless held a defendant may waive his right to collateral review so long as he or she can proceed forward on the narrow issue of whether he or she received ineffective assistance of counsel in being advised to enter into the plea agreement. Id. This Court did not place any additional restrictions on these types of agreements, including any requirements that these agreements include a written waiver after the defendant consults with an independent attorney on the waiver.

In the present case, Petitioner chose to plead guilty and agreed to waive his appellate and post-conviction relief rights (beyond the limited issue of counsel’s advice in entering to the plea agreement) in exchange for a favorable negotiated sentence. Both parties received a benefit of the bargain, and this agreement is valid under contractual law. Moreover, Petitioner was afforded an opportunity to present evidence and otherwise argue plea counsel was ineffective for advising him to enter into this plea agreement.

At the evidentiary hearing, plea counsel testified his first meeting with Petitioner was quite lengthy, lasting five-and-a-half hours, and during this meeting, they reviewed all

discovery.<sup>1</sup> (App. 90-91). Counsel testified he advised Petitioner he was facing a mandatory minimum sentence of twenty-five years imprisonment if convicted of trafficking heroin and that by accepting the State's plea agreement, he was able to significantly reduce his sentence exposure and avoid that mandatory minimum sentence. (App. 91). Counsel testified he advised Petitioner of what a post-conviction relief action was, although he did not provide hypothetical examples of particular claims, and that the plea agreement would create some challenges for Petitioner if he wanted to pursue post-conviction relief based on the provision waiving his right to pursue such an action on almost all grounds other than whether counsel was ineffective for advising him to enter into the agreement. (App. 82-83, 92-94). He testified that after these discussions, Petitioner indicated he wanted to enter into the plea agreement (including the waiver of post-conviction relief to all claims other than whether counsel was ineffective in advising him to enter into the plea agreement) to accept the favorable offer from the State. (App. 93-94).

In stark contrast, Petitioner testified he only met with counsel one time for fifteen minutes and counsel did not show him any discovery or evidence against him. (App. 95-96, 98-99). He testified counsel never explained any terms of the plea agreement with him, including his waiver of post-conviction relief for all allegations other than whether counsel was ineffective for advising him to waive his right to post-conviction relief. (App. 96-98). However, he later

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner's current counsel appears to take issue with plea counsel's specific recollection that the meeting lasted five-and-a-half-hours, speculating counsel did not refer to his notes or file in an apparent attempt to attack the veracity of plea counsel's testimony. However, there is absolutely nothing in the record to support such an assertion that counsel had not reviewed his file either on the witness stand or in preparation for the hearing. Respondent would also note when plea counsel was subpoenaed to appear and render testimony at this hearing, he was (just as all witnesses are) instructed to bring his criminal defense file to the hearing. The post-conviction relief court's findings that counsel was credible are likely due in part to counsel's thorough review of his file and preparation for the hearing. Petitioner's apparent suggestion that counsel's testimony should be disbelieved because he was able to provide specific details of his representation should be rejected by this Court.

testified on cross-examination that counsel showed him the plea agreement and tried to explain it to him. (App. 99). Petitioner also testified he thought the plea agreement was for a seven year sentence despite the plea agreement clearly indicating the negotiated sentence range was for fifteen to twenty years imprisonment. (App. 99).

After listening to the testimony of plea counsel and Petitioner, the post-conviction relief court denied the application from the bench. In the written order of dismissal that followed, the post-conviction relief court specifically found counsel's testimony was credible and established he advised Petitioner adequately of the terms of the plea agreement, including the waiver of post-conviction relief on all grounds other than whether counsel was ineffective in advising him to enter into the plea agreement. Conversely, the court found Petitioner's testimony was not credible. These findings are supported by the record and should be afforded great weight. See Frierson v. State, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 435 (2018) (“[W]e afford great deference to a PCR court's credibility findings.”).

Moreover, counsel was under no constitutional or statutory duty to have Petitioner waive any possible conflict of interest from any future malpractice claims in writing nor was he required to have Petitioner consult with independent counsel before entering into the plea agreement. The post-conviction relief court did not err in rejecting these claims from Petitioner.

Ultimately, Petitioner's entering into the favorable plea agreement with the State induced not by any purported misadvice by counsel or any lack of knowledge as to what post-conviction relief was and the implications of the waiver, but by his own desire to secure a favorable plea offer for the lowest term of imprisonment possible. His decision to enter into the plea agreement was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. The post-conviction relief court properly determined

Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional deprivations warranting relief and these findings are supported by the record. This Court should deny certiorari.


**CONCLUSION**

Because the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional deprivations, this Court should deny certiorari. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues raised, particularly in light of Petitioner's arguments asking this Court to extend the requirements for counsel when advising defendants entering in to plea agreements with waivers of collateral claims.